CITY OF RICHARDSON
CITY PLAN COMMISSION MINUTES - APRIL 7, 2015

The Richardson City Plan Commission met on April 7, 2015, at 7:00 p.m. at City Hall in the
Council Chambers, 411 W. Arapaho Road, Richardson, Texas.

MEMBERS PRESENT: Barry Hand, Chairman
Gerald Bright, Vice Chair
Janet DePuy, Commissioner
Marilyn Frederick, Commissioner
Thomas Maxwell, Commissioner
Randy Roland, Commissioner
Bill Ferrell, Alternate
Stephen Springs, Alternate

CITY STAFF PRESENT: Sam Chavez, Assistant Director — Dev. Svcs — Planning
Dan Tracy, Development Engineer
Israel Roberts, Development Manager
Chris Shacklett, Senior Planner
Kathy Welp, Executive Secretary

BRIEFING SESSION

Prior to the start of the regular business meeting, the City Plan Commission met with staff
regarding staff reports and agenda items. No action was taken.

MINUTES
1. Approval of the minutes of the regular business meeting of March 17, 2015.

Motion: Commissioner DePuy made a motion to approve the minutes as presented; second
by Commissioner Roland. Motion passed 7-0.

CONSENT AGENDA

All items listed under the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine by the City Plan Commission
and will be enacted by one motion in the form listed below. There will be no separate discussion of
these items unless desired, in which case any item(s) may be removed from the Consent Agenda for
separate consideration.

2. Site and Landscape Plans — IANT (companion to Item 6): A request for approval of site
and landscape plan for two (2) building expansions totaling 34,000 square feet to the existing
site. The 5-6 acre site is located at 840 Abrams Road, southwest corner of Spring Valley
Road and Abrams Road.

3. Revised Site and Landscape Plans — FUMC: A request for approval of revised site and
landscape plans to reflect two (2) building expansions to the site totaling 58,000 square feet.
The 14.55-acre site is located at 503 N. Central Expressway, south of Arapaho Road and
west of Central Expressway.

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 1



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes
April 7,2015

4. Amending Plat — Il Creeks Addition, Lot 23A, Block C: A request for approval of an
amending plat of 1l Creeks Addition Lots 23 and 24, Block C to combine two (2) lots into
one (1) lot. The 0.11-acre site is located at 2617 Stoneleigh Circle on the west side of Custer
Parkway, north of Lookout Drive.

Motion: Commissioner Maxwell made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda as
presented; second by Commissioner Frederick. Motion approved 7-0.

PUBLIC HEARINGS

5. Replat - Galatyn Park North Addition, Lots 1B, 3, 4 and 5, Block C and Open Space
Lots 3, 4 and 5, Block X (continued from March 17, 2015): Consider and take necessary
action on a request for approval of a replat of Lot 1A, Block C of Galatyn Park North to
create seven (7) lots. The 52.60-acre site is located at the southeast corner of President
George Bush Highway and Plano Road.

Mr. Tracy stated the replat was dividing the property into seven lots, three of which would be
common area open spaces, dedicating public right-of-way for the continuation of State Street
east of Plano Road, as well as easements for access and utilities. He added the replat
complied with the City’s subdivision regulations.

With no questions for staff, Chairman Hand opened the public hearing.

No comments were received in favor or opposed and Chairman Hand closed the public
hearing.

Motion: Commissioner Roland made a motion to approve Item 5 as presented; second by
Vice Chair Bright. Motion approved 7-0.

6. Replat — Greener Square Addition, Lot 1D, Block B (companion to Item 2): Consider
and take necessary action on a request for approval of a replat of Lot 1C, Block B of the
Greener Square Addition to accommodate two (2) building expansions totaling 34,000 square
feet to the 5.6-acre site located at 840 Abrams Road, southwest corner of Spring Valley Road
and Abrams Road.

Mr. Roberts said the requested replat would abandon previously dedicated easements for a
development plan that was no longer necessary, and the replat complied with the City’s
subdivision regulations.

Chairman Hand asked to confirm that the easement was put in place for a prior design that
did not take place and if there was water infrastructure under the easement.

Mr. Roberts confirmed Mr. Hand’s assumption as correct and there was no water
infrastructure under the easement.

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 2



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes
April 7,2015

With no other questions for staff, Chairman Hand opened the public hearing.

No comments or questions were received in favor or opposed and Chairman Hand closed the
public hearing.

Motion: Vice Chair Bright made a motion to approve Item 6 as presented; second by
Commissioner DePuy. Motion approved 7-0.

7. Zoning File 15-05 — Food Truck Park: Consider and take necessary action on a request for
approval of a Special Permit and a Special Development Plan to modify the development
standards of the Main Street/Central Expressway Form Based Code for a proposed food truck
park and private club to be located at 522 Bishop Avenue, east side of Bishop Avenue
between Davis Street and Rayflex Drive. The property is current zoned PD Planned
Development.

Mr. Shacklett advised the applicant was requesting a Special Permit for a food truck park and
private club, as well as a special development plan to accommodate the two uses for the
property located at 522 Bishop Avenue. He added that the applicant had been in discussions
with the City to utilize the existing older home as her private real estate office, which was
approved as a use when the area was rezoned under the Main Street/Central Expressway
rezoning in January 2015.

Mr. Shacklett explained that the trucks would enter off the alley and park along the northern
property line with a bar/private club in the center of the property and a restroom facility on
the southern property line. He added that due to the small size of the site the applicant was
requesting an exception for the location of the dumpster.

Mr. Shacklett concluded his presentation by noting the final requests from the applicant were
the approval of a sign not specifically called out in the new code, and the utilization of two-
one hundred percent metal buildings (shipping containers) in lieu of the maximum 35% of
metal panels allowed in the code.

Commissioner Frederick asked if the applicant had spoken with the adjacent parking lot
owner to use it for customers and/or food trucks and what would be the hours of operation.

Mr. Shacklett replied the applicant had spoken to the adjacent property owner and that owner
did not have a problem with customers using the parking lot, but not the food trucks.

Regarding the hours of operation, Mr. Shacklett stated the food truck park would open for
business Sunday through Thursday from 11:30 a.m. to 8:30 p.m., and on Fridays and
Saturdays it would operate from 11:30 a.m. to 12 o’clock midnight. In addition, if the food
truck park was not in operation, the private club/bar could not operate.

Commissioner Frederick asked if the food trucks would stay all day in the park.

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 3



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes
April 7,2015

Mr. Shacklett replied that as he understood it, the food trucks would be there all day, but felt
the applicant might have a better response.

Commissioner Roland stated the majority of businesses in the surrounding business were
light industrial, car lots, and repair shops and wondered how densely populated the area was.

Mr. Shacklett said from a residential standpoint the area was not very populated, but from a
business standpoint there were quite a few businesses in the general area. He added that the
intent of the Code was to allow mixed-use, multi-story buildings in the future, which would
increase the population and provide a destination for those living and working in the area.

Commissioner Roland asked if staff had toured other food truck park in the metroplex and
were they truly destination spots without having some other type of attendance incentive
(concerts, etc.).

Mr. Shacklett stated a good comparable would be the Fort Worth food truck park that was
comparable in size and located somewhat out of the way, but customers were finding the
location and using it as an alternative to a typical restaurant. He added there was another
food truck park on Greenville in Dallas that had entertainment around it, but was similar in
design to the proposed project.

Commissioner DePuy asked staff to explain the layout of the park, where the trucks would
park, and how many could fit in the area. She also wanted to know how many of the existing
trees would be left after construction.

Mr. Shacklett explained the plan was showing 18-foot long trucks, but the size could vary
from 18 to 26 feet. In addition, there will be electrical hookups on site for the trucks to use in
lieu of the trucks running generators.

Regarding the trees, Mr. Shacklett said the trees on the left of the site would be removed, but
the bar will be placed just west of the large tree in the middle of the yard.

Commissioner DePuy stated she was concerned about the trucks moving in and out of the
small lot and asked if staff had any concerns.

Mr. Chavez said that initially there was a concern until a staff member visited the food truck
park in Fort Worth.

Mr. Shacklett added the trucks would leave to go and restock once the lunch customers have
left and before the dinner crowd shows up, plus the management of the park would be there
to assist with moving the trucks in and out.

No other questions were presented to staff and Chairman Hand opened the public hearing.

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 4



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes
April 7,2015

Ms. Michelle Chesney, 2414 Grandview, Richardson, Texas, stated she was the owner of
Preston Bent Properties and the proposed food truck park and gave a brief history of her
business endeavors noting that she wanted to bring her business back to her home town.

Ms. Chesney said she loved taking a property to the highest and best use, and turning the
proposed location into a business office and food truck park could act as a catalyst for area.

In regard to the parking and management of the park, Ms. Chesney stated the parking lot next
door was rented to a local car shop and only a few rows of spaces are being used so she was
in discussion with the owner to use some of the spaces. She added that there will be an
employee on site to manage the comings and goings of the food trucks as well as lease
agreements with the vendors.

Ms. Chesney explained that she had been in touch with the North Texas Food Truck
Association (NTXFTA) and was impressed with the rules, guidelines, and standards the
organization had set for their members to insure they were a step above in quality and
service.

Commissioner DePuy noted the applicant and staff had compared the proposed park to the
Fort Worth food park and asked what the anticipated attendance would be. She also wanted
to know if the anticipated parking on the streets would have an impact on the surrounding
businesses.

Ms. Chesney said she anticipated the capacity would be around 150 people per day based on
information she received from the Fort Worth food park.

Regarding the impact on street parking, Ms. Chesney stated she had been in contact with
some of the surrounding businesses and they were in support of the food truck park. In
addition, most of the businesses would be closed on the weekends.

Commissioner Ferrell stated that he was in favor of a food truck park, but questioned if there
would be enough seating for 150 people.

Ms. Chesney replied the rendering submitted would have to be adjusted later in the process.
Commissioner Springs asked what type of fencing would be used on each side of the park.
Ms. Chesney said the existing wrought iron fence will be screened by the food trucks and
they did not anticipate adding any other material. Most of the other chain link fence will
remain with only one side removed. In front of the business, there will be some type of

fencing material to draw the customers into the food park, but it will not be chain link.

Chairman Hand stated he was in favor of the proposed project and asked if the applicant’s
business plan was to target the workers in the surrounding industrial businesses.

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 5



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes
April 7,2015

Ms. Chesney replied that would be one segment of their customer base, but pointed out there
were other office buildings just outside the immediate area.

Commissioner Roland asked if the applicant contracted with the food trucks for services and
would there be a guarantee that at least three or four would show up every day.

Ms. Chesney said their attorney, who is the same attorney for the Fort Worth food park,
would be involved in the leases with the food truck vendors.

Mr. Cody Martin, 2414 Grandview, Richardson, Texas, stated he was in favor of the food
truck park and had the opportunity to see the effect food truck parks had on revitalization in
sections of Austin and Houston.

Mr. Reid Robinson, 600 Nottingham, Richardson, Texas, said he had worked with bringing
food trucks to special events (Alamo Drafthouse, Dallas Arts District, etc.) and thought the
proposed park would be a great destination spot and a big asset for the community.

Ms. Pam Dobson Perez, 604 N. Church Street, McKinney, Texas, stated she was on the
board for NTXFTA, as well as being a food truck owner, and acknowledged the concerns
about moving the trucks in and out, but stated the food truck community was a very tight knit
community that communicates well with each other.

Mr. Joe Patrick, Communication Director for NTXFTA, 4100 Willow Springs, Arlington,
Texas, said he was also a food truck owner and noted one of the positive aspects of having a
food truck park was that it would be a destination spot for families. He also pointed out that
most of the food trucks that have been around for a while have a dedicated following through
Facebook and Twitter.

Chairman Hand asked how often a food truck became a brick and mortar restaurant.

Mr. Patrick replied that of the current 19 members, two have converted to brick and mortar
restaurants and there is a possibility of three more within the next year.

With no further comments in favor, Chairman Hand called for comments in opposition.

Mr. Mark Wismer, 3441 Hanover Street, Dallas, Texas stated his family owned and operated
Gold Star Appliances at 520 N. Central Expressway, Richardson, Texas, and was concerned
about the inconvenience the increased parking would bring to the local businesses. He was
also against allowing private clubs with alcohol, felt the project was not what he would
envision for the area, or was highest and best use of the property.

Mr. Asghar Hadiheydari, 383 Sandhill Drive, Richardson, Texas, also expressed concerns

about the impact the increased traffic would have on the neighborhood businesses and was
concerned about alcohol and the private club portion of the project.

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 6



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes
April 7,2015

Chairman Hand asked the applicant if she would like to make any rebuttal comments.

Ms. Chesney said that to clarify the private club aspect, the only Texas Alcohol and
Beverage Commission regulation that would fit their specific needs was the private club
requirements, which necessitated additional standards and guidelines. She also asked the
Commission to take note that their proposed project would have a cleaner design than the
Fort Worth food park.

Commissioner Roland asked what the future plans were for parking should the park become
successful.

Ms. Chesney said she would seek advice from the City to see how other businesses have met
the challenges of on street parking.

Commissioner DePuy suggested that to be a good neighbor and a catalyst for the area it
would be helpful to work with the adjacent property owner who had the parking lot to see if
something could be worked out with him.

No further comments were received in favor or opposed and Chairman Hand closed the
public hearing.

Chairman Hand asked about a section in the Main Street/Central PD that pertained to a
certain percentage of the front of a building needing to be within 0-40 feet of the build-to
zone.

Mr. Shacklett replied that was correct, but in the current case the existing building represents
52% of the lot width, rather than the required 80%.

Chairman Hand asked if the restroom building could be moved forward and counted towards
the percentage needed.

Mr. Shacklett said that might be possible, but one aspect is that part of other codes encourage
civic open space and the space in front could count towards the percentage although it is not
readily accessible by the public.

Commissioner Springs said he would like to see the word “future” taken out of the plan when
referring to the restroom buildings. He expressed some concerns about parking, but was in
favor of the proposed project.

Commissioner Frederick acknowledged the speaker’s comments about setting a vision for the
area and thanked him for having his business in the City, but reminded the Commission and
those in attendance that the City had already set the vision for the area through the Main
Street/Central PD.

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 7



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes
April 7,2015

Commissioner Maxwell said he was in support of the project and thought it could be a great
catalyst project that could hopefully lead to redevelopment in the area.

Chairman Hand stated that he was sensitive to possible parking issues, and reminded the
Commission that the lack of parking could be a hindrance to a business, but pointed out that
if the parking becomes a problem, the project was under a Special Permit so it could be
recalled for review.

Vice Chair Bright asked staff if the word “future” could be completely removed from the
renderings.

Mr. Shacklett replied that a request to remove the word “future” could be made part of the
motion.

Motion: Vice Chair Bright made a motion to recommend approval of Item 7 as presented
including removing the word “future” from the renderings; second by
Commissioner Ferrell.

Commissioner DePuy asked if the Special Permit was tied to the owner and Mr.
Shacklett replied the permit was tied to the property.

Commissioner Maxwell thought removing the word “future” from the private
club/bar might be a problem if the applicant was unable to get an alcohol permit.

Mr. Shacklett suggested leaving the rendering as is and as long as the final product
was in substantial conformance there should not be a problem.

Motion approved 7-0.

8. Zoning File 15-06 — Skilled Nursing Facility: Consider and take necessary action on a
request for a change in zoning from C-M Commercial with special conditions to PD Planned
Development and approval of a Special Permit for a nursing/convalescent home to be located
at 1601 Richardson Drive, east side of Richardson Drive between Melrose Drive and the
Kansas City Southern railroad.

Mr. Shacklett stated the applicant was requesting a change in zoning to allow for the
construction of a nursing home on the property located on the east side of Richardson Drive,
north of Melrose Circle, adjacent to the KCS railroad line. He explained that a nursing home
was allowed in any zoning district, but required a Special Permit, and the request for the PD
was based on the proposed building height for the nursing home.

Regarding the height of the building, Mr. Shacklett said the regulations limited non-
residential buildings to one-story, or 25 feet in height, when they are within 150 feet of a
residential or apartment zoning district and a portion of the proposed building would be
within the 150 feet of the apartment complex to the south. He added that although the
proposed building would be two stories, the mid-point of the roof was 27 feet.

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 8



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes
April 7,2015

Mr. Shacklett advised the applicant was requesting to modify the masonry on the building
elevations and the required screening from a masonry wall to an evergreen shrub row based
on the existing wrought iron and brick fence. He also noted that the site exceeded the
required parking spaces.

In closing, Mr. Shacklett stated that staff had received a petition in opposition from members
in the Estates of Prairie Creek neighborhood based on concerns about noise from sirens,
removal of the existing trees and traffic.

Commissioner Roland asked to confirm the current zoning was C-M Commercial and, if the
future land use plan called for multi-family, would the 150-foot setback still be required.

Mr. Shacklett confirmed the zoning as C-M Commercial and said if the land was developed
as multi-family they would not be held to 150-foot setback.

Commissioner Maxwell asked what type of uses would be allowed, by right, under the
current zoning. He also wanted to know if an assisted living facility would require a Special
Permit.

Mr. Shacklett replied they could build up to 90,000 square feet of retail, restaurant or office
under the current zoning if the proposed use could comply with parking requirements. In
addition, other uses listed under the current zoning included mental health buildings,
outpatient treatment facilities, hospital support services as well as accessory parking lots.

Regarding an assisted living facility, Mr. Shacklett said independent living, assisted living
and nursing homes would all require Special Permits in any zoning district.

Commissioner Frederick noted that one of the comments made by the petition was an
increase in sound from ambulances and asked staff if the emergency room at the hospital was
still in use.

Mr. Shacklett said that in discussions with the City’s Fire Department, all emergency room
functions had been moved to the new hospital at Renner and Shiloh Roads in east
Richardson. He added that one of assisted living facilities in the area generated 106 calls for
service in 2014 and the nursing home had 30 calls.

Chairman Hand asked if the tree line was in a drainage area or wetland.

Mr. Shacklett replied that it appeared to be a natural drainage channel with an outfall on the
north end that moved the water under Richardson Drive to the City’s storm sewer system.
He added that if the property was developed the water from the areas would most likely have
to be piped under the parking areas and out to the City system.

With no further questions for staff, Chairman Hand opened the public hearing.

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 9



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes
April 7,2015

Mr. Rodney Owens, 403 Alexandra Circle, Southlake, Texas, stated his company had been
contacted by Methodist Hospital to possibly lease two floors of the old building for a skilled
nursing facility, but after assessing the cost to renovate the hospital property it made more
sense to build their own facility. He added his company currently owns nine facilities in
Dallas, Fort Worth, San Antonio and Albuquerque.

Mr. Owens said that the City of Richardson has six nursing homes, most of which are quite
old, and with the increase in the population of people 65 and older, the demand will exceed
the available resources.

Mr. Owens stated that on the advice of staff, he met with some of the adjacent property
owners and all seemed to be in favor of the proposed project with the exception of the
homeowners of the Estates of Prairie Creek. He added their three main concerns were: noise
from emergency vehicles, increase in railroad noise with the removal of the trees, and
parking overflow.

Regarding noise from emergency vehicles and the railroad, Mr. Owens pointed out that the
proposed facility would receive most of the noise from the passing trains and that the
structure and the trees that will be saved and new ones plant could act as a buffer. He also
reminded the Commission of the statement from staff that the other skilled nursing facilities
only generated 30 calls in 2014.

Mr. Owens addressed the concern about the traffic, parking and overflow by citing the traffic
study indicating that if an office building was built under the current zoning it would
generate 100 more cars per day than a nursing home. He also asked the homeowners
association to visit their facility in the Frisco that is larger than the proposed facility and has
only 79 parking spaces and see that they have not experienced any parking problems.

Commissioner Springs asked the applicant to define the differences between skilled nursing,
nursing home, assisted living.

Mr. Owens replied that skilled nursing and nursing homes are synonymous and those
facilities help rehabilitate patients who have had some type of health event with an average
stay of 30 to 40 days. In addition, there are small sections of skilled nursing facilities that
handle long term continuing care.

In regard to assisted and independent living, Mr. Owens stated that assisted living provides a
lower level of care where someone would occasionally check on the tenants as they live on
their own, and independent living was basically an age-restricted, multi-family facility.
Chairman Hand asked if the facility would have out-patient rehabilitation services.

Mr. Owens said their facility will have a first floor physical therapy area for out-patients
visits.

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 10



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes
April 7,2015

Chairman Hand called for other comments in favor.

Ms. Ann Benner, 336 Melrose Drive, #9A, Richardson, Texas, asked if the item was
approved, would the property values in the area go up.

Chairman Hand replied that he was not qualified to answer the question, but maybe some of
the other Commissioners, who were realtors, could answer that question.

Mr. Bruce Rachel, 1877 Prairie Dog Run, Richardson, Texas, stated he lived in the Estates of
Prairie Creek and was in favor of the proposed project. He also wanted to know if the
masonry requirement included stucco, and could the parking visible from Richardson Drive
be screened.

Mr. Shacklett replied that stucco was excluded from the masonry categories in the City’s
masonry regulations, and as far as stone — it is not required to be a full stone block, but the
definition does have a thickness requirement and the building must be in substantial
conformance with the elevations. In addition, the City’s landscape policies require a 10-foot
landscape buffer with one (1) canopy and one (1) ornamental tree every 50 linear feet, and
when parking is adjacent to a street, the policy requires shrub rows to screen the headlights
and fronts of the vehicles.

No further comments in favor were received and Chairman Hand called for those opposed.

Ms. Sherry Annett, 382 Sandhill Drive, Richardson, Texas, stated she was the originator of
the petition in opposition which expressed concerns with home values, traffic, noise from
emergency vehicles, overflow parking during visiting hours, light pollution, and noise from
the railroad when the existing trees are taken down.

Ms. Annett concluded her comments by adding her concerns about the wild life in the area
that will be affected once the trees are taken down and suggested the City might buy the
property and make a green belt out of it.

Mr. Karl Lombar, 1880 Quail Lane, Richardson, Texas, said he was concerned about
property values, especially with exits and entrances directly across from their neighborhood,
and with the possibility of increased traffic in the area. He also felt if the City purchased the
property and made either a park or a green belt it would be beneficial to all the surrounding
neighborhoods.

Mr. Asghar Hadiheydari, 383 Sandhill Drive, Richardson, Texas, stated he concurred with
the previous speakers regarding additional noise and traffic. He also suggested that the
Commission might think about postponing the item until staff or the City could come up with
an alternative.

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 11



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes
April 7,2015

Mr. Rachel asked if some type of curb devise was created by staff during an earlier case for
the development of the Palisades to eliminate the ability of those exiting Palisades to cross
Collins Boulevard and enter the neighborhood of Prairie Creek.

Mr. Shacklett replied that a hooded turn would allow left turns into the facility, but it would
prohibit movement for those leaving the Estates of Prairie Creek neighborhood. He also
pointed out that the street exiting Palisades dead ends into Collins Boulevard and did not
cross over the street.

Commissioner Frederick said besides living in the area, she has been involved in changes in
the Palisades neighborhood and what she thought Mr. Rachel was talking about was not a
hooded turn, but a change to make the street one-way.

Chairman Hand asked Mr. Owens if he had any rebuttal comments.

Mr. Owens stated that his company had the ability to extend the parking at the back of the
property and reminded the Commission and those in attendance that the presentation was
simply a site plan and not a landscape plan. He promised the site would be landscaped with a
large amount of trees and shrubs.

With no further questions or comments in favor or opposed, Chairman Hand closed the
public hearing.

Commissioner Roland said he lives close to a fire station and they can hear the emergency
vehicles and their sirens leaving the station, but reminded everyone that was one of the
challenges of living in a city with emergency services. He also wanted to point out that the
property could be built out as an office building or multi-family complex which would
generate much more traffic than a nursing home.

Commissioner Frederick asked how high the lights would be around the facility and would
there be light pollution affecting the surrounding properties.

Mr. Shacklett replied the City has a performance standard that limits the light to one-foot
candle at the property line and that regulation is for nursing home, multi-family or
commercial development.

Commissioner DePuy said that as a real estate professional, she felt a restaurant or multi-
family complex with a lot of traffic would adversely affect the property values as opposed to
a skilled nursing facility. She added that if the property in question could remain as a vacant
area or park that would be great, but the likelihood of that happening was remote.

Ms. DePuy concurred with Mr. Roland that noise from sirens was part of living in a city with
emergency services and felt the staff’s answer about light pollution was sufficient.

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 12



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes
April 7,2015

Vice Chair Bright said he thought the proposal was an appropriate use, but asked staff if the
item was approved as presented would the Commission have the ability to make changes to
the landscape plan if it met requirements and was in conformance with the site plan.

Mr. Shacklett replied that if approved, the applicant would be back before the Commission
with site and landscape plans and at that time the Commission would have input over the
minimum size of the landscape buffer, number of canopy and ornamental trees along the
street frontage, the size of landscape islands and trees at the end of parking aisles, as well as
additional parking lot screening. He noted that the City’s code requires a building of the
proposed size to have 7% of their lot landscaped and the current proposal is at 45%.

Vice Chair Bright asked if the Commission wanted more trees along the railroad line would
that have to be part of the motion.

Mr. Shacklett replied that was correct.

Commissioner Springs agreed with Mr. Bright that the proposal was an appropriate use and
was a better use then the current entitlements. He acknowledged the concerns mentioned
regarding increased traffic and noted the applicant had included a left turn lane into the
facility, but asked if there might be some other traffic abatement efforts made.

Mr. Chavez said there are diverters that can be designed, but they can have an impact on both
sides of the street. He also noted that if the property was developed under the current zoning
the Commission would not be having a discussion about traffic and the proposed use
provides less of an impact than uses allowed by right.

Commissioner Springs suggested the neighborhood might want to work with the City’s
Traffic Department to get traffic control devices in their neighborhood.

Chairman Hand asked to confirm the current zoning and entitlement as well as the distinction
between the future land use plan and the comprehensive plan.

Mr. Shacklett replied the current zoning is C-M Commercial with special conditions and
commercial zoning would allow a variety of retail uses, office and restaurant, but did not
allow multi-family; however, the future land use plan recommends multi-family or group
quarters. He added that the future land use plan was a component of the comprehensive plan.

Mr. Chavez added that realistically the property would probably develop as office under the
current zoning and that was the bases for the traffic comparison.

Commissioner Maxwell stated he was in favor of the project and felt it was an appropriate
use of the land. He acknowledged the comment made to postpone the item and look at what
else could develop on the site, but cautioned that the Commission was charged with
evaluating the plan as it was presented and any steps to convert the property into a park
should have started many years ago.

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 13



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes
April 7,2015

Commissioner Frederick encouraged the developer to enhance the corner of their property on
Richardson Drive so the neighbors would not look into a driveway and parked cars. She
suggested a landscape buffer with drought tolerant plants and rocks that would give the
property a “park like” setting.

Mr. Owens stated he would go above and beyond what is required by the City for
landscaping.

Vice Chair Bright concurred with Ms. Frederick and suggested that her statement should be
made part of the motion.

Mr. Shacklett replied that the Commission would have to delineate exactly what they want,
but pointed out that the applicant had placed much of the parking away from the street.

Commissioner Frederick stated that her vision of the property would include entrance and
corner type features similar to those in neighborhoods or apartment complexes.

Chairman Hand concurred that the proposed plan was a better use of the property than the
entitled uses and noted that as a design professional the building would be a better noise
barrier than the trees. As for the sirens of emergency vehicles, the neighborhood could
possibly discuss that with the Fire Department.

Chairman Hand said he felt that managing the traffic was something that could take place
with the City, and also echoed earlier comments that planning a park for the site in question
should have started many years ago. He concluded his comments by stating that what
generates sustainable cities is a diversity of housing stock that allows the population to age in
place.

Mr. Shacklett suggested that if the Commission was looking to incorporate some of the
landscape issues that it would be appropriate to require berms on either side of the driveway
and the north end of the property with a minimum 3-foot height and a 3-to-1 slope.

Motion: Commissioner Springs made a motion to recommend approval of Zoning File 15-
06 as presented with the addition of requiring enhanced landscape features at the
entrance and north and southwest corners of the property frontage on Richardson
Drive; second by Commissioner Roland.

Mr. Chavez pointed out that “enhanced landscape” was very subjective and staff
was recommending landscape berms at both entrances and the northern corner of
the property to create some topography along the front yard area without
specifying the individual plants.

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 14



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes
April 7,2015

Commissioner Springs thought that putting a landscape berm right next to the
drainage area might pose an undue burden and suggested letting the applicant’s
landscape architect present his solution.

Commissioner DePuy asked if the drainage was underground would that allow the
use of berms on the northern corner of the property and Mr. Chavez confirmed
that it would.

Chairman Hand suggested that prior to bringing a landscape plan back before the
Commission that the applicant should meet with the neighborhood leaders to
show some specifics of the plan.

Vice Chair Bright said that although he supports the project he felt more guidance
was needed and would be voting against the current motion. He suggested
incorporating language offered by the staff to amend the motion to require
landscape features be added at the north end of the property as well as the
southwest corner of the property, to include minimum 3-foot high berms with a
maximum 3-to-1 slope that shall be placed on either side of the entry as well as
the north end of the property.

Commissioners Springs and Roland both accepted the amendment.

Motion approved 7-0.

Note: Chairman Hand called for a five minute recess. The meeting reconvened at 10:10 p.m.
and Chairman Hand noted that Commissioner Roland had excused himself for the remainder of
the meeting.

9. Zoning File 15-07 — Drive-thru Restaurant: Consider and take necessary action on a
request for a Special Permit for a restaurant with drive-thru service at 1405 E. Renner Road,
northeast corner of Renner and Plano Roads.

Mr. Shacklett stated the applicant was requesting a Special Permit for a drive-thru restaurant
on the northeast corner of Plano and Renner Roads. The proposed restaurant would be
located on Lot 2 of the Galatyn Park North development for CityLine Market as well as a
small portion of Lot 1C.

Mr. Shacklett noted the proposed building would be a total of 4,600 square feet with 1,900
square feet for a restaurant on the west side and a 2,700 square foot bank on the east with
both proposed to have drive-thru facilities.

Starting with the bank, Mr. Shacklett explained the bank would have a drive-thru entrance at
the southeast corner of the building and exit out into a north/south mutual access easement
allowing a vehicle to go north and then to Plano Road or across the development, or south to
a median opening on Renner Road.

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 15



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes
April 7,2015

Regarding the drive-thru restaurant, Shacklett stated that entrance would be at the northeast
corner of the property with the vehicles wrapping around the building and exiting to the
south. The vehicles could then turn either west and turn back north then east to exit on Plano
Road, or turn east then south to go to Renner Road.

Mr. Shacklett indicated there would be directional signage throughout the development to
assist drivers to find the bank drive-thru versus the restaurant drive-thru. He added that the
building would also have a shade structure and tables on the southwest corner along with
bicycle racks on the southeast corner.

Mr. Shacklett concluded his presentation by noting the development would not have
additional parking along the southern edge of the development because the PD requires a 40-
foot setback along Renner Road and a 20-foot setback along Plano Road. He added the
building would also meet 100% of the City’s requirement for masonry and one letter in
support of the project had been received.

Commissioner DePuy asked how the restaurant would access the dumpster.

Mr. Shacklett said there would are doors on the back of the restaurant and bank that would
exit onto a walkway to the dumpster.

Vice Chair Bright asked if the bank would have a lobby and, if so, where would the
customers enter and where would they park.

Mr. Shacklett replied the customers could park anywhere on the site and enter both
businesses through doors on the south side of the building. He added that a portion of the
adjacent lot would be included in the development, but parking would not be available on
that side of the lot.

Commissioner Ferrell asked if there had been any discussion of having multiple drive-thru
lanes for the bank. He added that he had concerns about the staging area for vehicles waiting
to use the drive-thru.

Mr. Shacklett replied that most of the discussion had been focused on getting two separate
drive-thrus for two separate businesses, but as far as the current design of the site, it did not
look like additional lanes could be added for the bank.

Commissioner Frederick asked if there would be an ATM machine and would it be inside the
lobby.

Mr. Shacklett said he was not sure if there would be an ATM on the front of the building or
in the lobby and suggested the applicant might be able to answer that question.

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 16



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes
April 7,2015

Commissioner Maxwell stated he was concerned that the 16-foot parking space and 22.8-foot
drive aisles were not adequate. He asked if there was a possibility of having a wheel-stop to
shorten the space.

Mr. Shacklett replied that the City does not typically allow wheel-stops, except where it is
required for ADA purposes.

Mr. Maxwell suggested the applicant could reconfigure their curb ramps to a straight-on
ramp to avoid the additional wheel stops.

Chairman Hand asked if the 22.8-foot lane was a legal fire lane.

Mr. Shacklett said fire lanes were 24 feet in width and were located along the outside
northern edge of the property as well as along Plano and Renner Roads.

With no further questions for staff, Chairman Hand opened the public hearing.

Mr. Pat Lucas, Kimley-Horn and Associates, representing Regency Centers, 12750 Merit
Drive, Suite 1000, Dallas, Texas, said he was the civil engineer on the project and could
answer any questions regarding the site plan. He added that the representative from Regency
Centers was unable to make the meeting.

Chairman Hand asked if the applicant could reveal who the future tenants would be.

Mr. Lucas replied the tenants were yet to be determined.

Commissioner Maxwell asked the applicant to address his concerns about the wheel-stops
and revising the curb ramps.

Mr. Lucas said that because they are required to have the 5-foot by 5-foot landing outside the
door, eliminating the wheel-stops for a straight in ramp, which is usually 6 feet in length,
would impact the landing in front of the door. He added there may be an opportunity to find
some additional space and increase the parking to 18 feet.

Commissioner Maxwell said he thought that 10.4 feet would allow a straight maneuver and a
straight ramp and landing.

Chairman Hand suggested that if the parking could be elevated, the area could become a curb
less environment and do away with the ramp.

Vice Chair Bright asked if a two drive-thrus, one for a bank and another for a restaurant,
were normal and was were there other projects like this in the area.

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 17



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes
April 7,2015

Mr. Lucas replied this was a unique situation and stated that most banking is now done on
line and less emphasis is placed on having a lobby and drive-thru. He added that although a
bank was shown on the site plan, it could end up being some type of retail use.

With no other comments received, Chairman Hand closed the public hearing.

Chairman Hand said he liked innovation and thinking outside the box, but he had concerns
with customers walking through drive-thru lanes to get to either business, lack of parking on
the front of the building, and angled head-in parking next to the bank’s drive thru. He added
there seemed to be some operational and functional issues with the design and thought that
too much was being planned for the site.

Commissioner Frederick concurred with Mr. Hand and felt the design was confusing and said
she would not be voting in favor.

Commissioner DePuy stated that walking across the drive-thru lanes did not concern her, but
she thought one business as opposed to two would be a better option.

Commissioner Springs said he thought the design was not a good fit and agreed with Ms.
DePuy that having one tenant would be preferable. He added that with all the work put in to
the overall development to make it pedestrian friendly, the proposed design was going in the
opposite direction.

Commissioner Ferrell stated he thought the whole designed needed work and asked the
Commission if the item should be denied or postponed.

Mr. Lucas said the design was a concept plan and there was room to redesign the site to
alleviate customers walking across the drive-thrus, and reminded the Commission of the
sidewalks along Renner and Plano Roads that add to the walkability of the site.

Chairman Hand stated he still had concerns about the head-in parking spaces, stacking for the
bank drive-thru and asked if the 12.4-foot aisle between the drive-thru and the angled parking
met City regulations.

Mr. Shacklett replied that it met the City’s minimum guidelines, but suggested that since the
site was over-parked by two spaces, the angled parking spaces could be removed.

Mr. Lucas concurred and said there could be an opportunity if those spaces were eliminated
to create a second drive-thru lane.

Commissioner Ferrell again suggested it might be helpful to the applicant if the Commission
continued the item.

Chairman Hand asked if the item was denied would it have to re-posted and re-advertised.

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 18



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes

April 7, 2015

Mr. Shacklett replied if denied, the applicant had the option to appeal to the City Council.
He added that if the item was continued indefinitely the item would have to be reposted and
suggested a four week continuance to the May 5, 2015 Commission meeting.

Motion: Vice Chair Bright made a motion to continue Zoning File 15-07 to the May 5,
2015 meeting; second by Commissioner Maxwell. Motion approved 7-0.

ADJOURN

With no further business before the Commission, Chairman Hand adjourned the regular
business meeting at 10:47 p.m.

Barry Hand, Chairman
City Plan Commission

Ds:CPC/2015/2015-03-17 Minutes.doc 19



